# THE EQUIVALENCE PRINCIPLE

### Birgit Grodal

University of Copenhagen, Denmark

**Keywords:** equivalence, Walrasian equilibrium, Walrasian allocation, atomless economy, large finite economy, strongly fair net trades, core, Mas-Colell Bargaining set, Geanakoplos bargaining set, value, approximately decentralization, Nash equilibrium.

#### **Contents**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Notation and the Basic Model
- 3. Walrasian Equilibrium
- 4. Equivalencies in Atomless Economies
- 5. Approximations to Equivalence: Large Finite Economies
- 6. Strategic Behavior and Walrasian Equilibria
- 7. Conclusion

Acknowledgments

Glossary

Bibliography

Biographical Sketch

#### **Summary**

In this chapter we survey some equivalence results. The starting point is the set of Walrasian allocations. We first show that a Walrasian allocation can be characterized by the property that it has strongly fair net trades. Then we consider atomless economies. An atomless economy formalizes the assumption that the economy consists of many small agents. In an atomless economy we present the Core, the Bargaining Set, and Value equivalence results.

We also examine large finite economies. We present a Core decentralization result and also a decentralization result for the Geanakoplos Bargaining Set. The Mas-Colell Bargaining Set does not lead to a convergence result in large finite economies.

Finally, we give a few examples of equivalence between the set of Walrasian equilibria in a finite economy and the set of Nash equilibria in suitably defined non-cooperative games.

#### 1. Introduction

The starting point of this survey is a pure exchange economy with finitely many commodities and with private ownership of the initial endowments. In such an economy it is often assumed that a Walrasian market gives the trading possibilities for the consumers. A Walrasian market is the institution given by a price system. All consumers take the prices of the commodities as parametrically given and choose an

optimal action that aggregate to analyzing

However, co Walrasian in are defined be given? Game question.

Concepts fro introduce new rest on the as has been able to an equival agents in the if and only i allocation co equivalence institution.

For most of paralleling the Clearly, if p economy any assumption in Clearly, one independently defined a confidence of the equivalence of the equi

Since Auma economies w enlarged our Moreover, th given new commodity s general, not economies w

Clearly, mod abstraction. atomless eco optimal action given these prices. The prices defining the Walrasian market are set such that aggregate demands equal aggregate supplies. Much of economic theory is devoted to analyzing economies with Walrasian markets or variants of this model.

However, considering an economy with a Walrasian market does not justify the Walrasian institution. How can it be justified that the trading possibilities for the agents are defined by a price system and that agents take the price system as parametrically given? Game theory has been extremely useful in the search for an answer to this question.

Concepts from cooperative as well as non-cooperative game theory have been used to introduce new equilibrium concepts into economics. These equilibrium notions do not rest on the assumption that agents take the prices of commodities as given. Thus, one has been able to ask the question, whether some of these other equilibrium notions lead to an equivalence result in the following sense: An allocation of the commodities to the agents in the economy is an equilibrium state according to this new equilibrium concept if and only if there exists a price system p such that the allocation is an equilibrium allocation corresponding to the Walrasian market defined by the price system p. If an equivalence result obtains we have an endogenous explanation of the Walrasian institution.

For most of the equilibrium concepts used in game theory there is no assumption paralleling the assumption that the agents take the Walrasian market as given *a priori*. Clearly, if prices are always set such that demands equal supplies, then in a finite economy any agent shall be able to influence the price system. However, the implicit assumption is that agents behave as if their actions have no affect on the price system. Clearly, one may think, that if the economy consists of many small agents who act independently, then this implicit assumption is approximately satisfied. Aumann (1964) defined a continuum economy in which the agents were modeled as [0, 1] with the Lebesgue measure. In Aumann's model the assumption that an individual agent cannot influence the price system is endogenous and Aumann gave the first general equivalence theorem. He proves that an allocation can be obtained via a Walrasian market if and only if there is no group of consumers, which by using its own initial endowments can ensure that all its members are better of. This is Aumann's classical Core equivalence theorem.

Since Aumann's result, many other equivalence results have been obtained for economies with an atomless measure space of consumers. These results have very much enlarged our understanding of the foundation for the Walrasian market institution. Moreover, the attempts to analyze economies with infinitely many commodities have given new insights. Ostroy and Zame (1994) have pointed out that, when the commodity space is infinitely dimensional, an atomless measure space of agents is, in general, not enough to obtain results analogous with the equivalence results for economies with finitely many commodities.

Clearly, modeling the agents in an economy as an atomless measure space is an abstraction. Hence, a fundamental question is whether the equivalence results for atomless economies have analogies in economies with large, but finite numbers of

, atomless Bargaining ion, Nash

the set of acterized by economies. ts of many ng Set, and

n result and Mas-Colell

n equilibria cooperative

itely many in economy ies for the ystem. All choose an agents. A strong result in this direction is the classical theorem by Debreu and Scarf (1963). They showed that the Core and set of Walrasian allocations become arbitrarily close when a finite economy is replicated sufficiently many times. However, Bewley (1973) showed that if one considers more general sequences of finite economies, one cannot, in general, hope for such a strong conclusion. This leads to a weaker question. Namely, whether for some of the game theoretical solution concepts, one will have that any equilibrium allocation can be approximately decentralized by a Walrasian market in large finite economies.

Searching for equivalence results has a parallel in classical welfare economics. For a long time, it has been known that allocations obtained via a Walrasian market are Pareto efficient. However, starting with a Pareto efficient allocation, a transfer of initial endowments among the agents is necessary if the allocation has to be obtained from a Walrasian market. This is the content of the classical First and Second welfare theorems, see Debreu (1959).

#### 2. Notation and the Basic Model

For two vectors  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , we use the notation  $y \ge x$  if  $y_h \ge x_h$  for all  $h = 1, ..., \ell$ ; y > x if  $y_h \ge x_h$  for all  $h = 1, ..., \ell$  and  $y \ne x$ ; and y >> x if  $y_h > x_h$  for all  $h = 1, ..., \ell$ . We let  $\Delta = \{p \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \mid \sum p_h = 1\}$  be the non-negative price simplex in  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . For a set S let |S| denote the number of elements in S.  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  denotes the non-negative integers. For  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  we let ||x|| denote the Euclidean norm of x.

We consider economies in which all consumers have the positive orthant  $\mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}$  as consumption sets.

A preference relation  $\succ$  on  $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  is said to be *continuous* if the set  $\{(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell \times \mathbb{R}_+^\ell | y \succ x\}$  is open relative to  $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell \times \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ . The relation  $\succ$  is irreflexive if  $x \not\succ x$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ . It is *monotonic* if for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  with y > x we have  $y \succ x$ . A preference relation on  $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  is said to be *transitive-monotonic* if  $z \ge y$  and  $y \succ x$  imply  $z \succ x$  for all  $x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ . We let  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}$  be the set of continuous, irreflexive, monotonic, and transitive-monotonic preference relations on  $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ . A preference relation  $\succsim$  on  $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  is complete if  $y \succsim x$  or  $x \succsim y$  for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ . The relation  $\succsim$  is transitive if  $z \succsim y$  and  $y \succsim x$  imply  $z \succsim x$  for all  $x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ . We say that  $\succ \in \mathcal{P}_{mo}$  is derived from the complete and transitive preference relation  $\succsim$  when  $y \succ x$  if and only if  $y \succsim x$  and  $x \not\succeq y$ . We let  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^* = \{\succ \in \mathcal{P}_{mo} \mid \succ$  is derived from a complete and transitive relation  $\succsim$   $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  and  $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  is a preference relation  $F \succ \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  is said to be *smooth* if the corresponding preference relation  $F \succ \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  with positive Gaussian curvature  $y \succ \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ . (The function  $y \succ \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  utility function  $y \succ \mathbb{R}_+^\ell \rightarrow \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  with positive

 $\min\{u(x),$ 

A pure ex  $\mathbb{R}_{+}^{\ell} \times \mathcal{P}_{mo}$ ,
non-negatic coalition of that the material  $T \in \text{where}$  and  $\in \text{is c}$  function with measurable  $T \in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\ell}$ 

Consider a a's net trace equal ther

Definition

Let be an An attainal

 $x(a) \in for$ 

An attainal the allocat

Thus, an a  $\in S$ , by using

An allocat Thus, an measure s bundle the does not e Pareto eff economy s by x. When

# 2.1. Atom

an allocation

 $\succ_a$ ) = (e(b)

An econon an atomles

a and Scarf e arbitrarily ver, Bewley nomies, one er question. ill have that n market in

mics. For a st are Pareto r of initial ined from a nd welfare

We let  $\Delta = \frac{1}{|S|}$  denote we let |S| denote

hant  $\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  as

 $\mathbb{R}_{+}^{\ell} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\ell} | y$  for all  $x \in$ 

nce relation all  $x, y, z \in$  transitive-

omplete if y  $\Rightarrow x \text{ imply } z$ 

mplete and y. We let

 $\mathbf{x}$  preference  $\mathbf{x}$   $\mathbf{z}$  can be

ith positive

 $(1-\lambda)y) >$ 

 $\min\{u(x), u(y)\}\$ for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}, x \neq y,$ and  $\lambda \in (0, 1).)$ 

A pure exchange economy with private ownership is a mapping  $\mathcal{E}:(A,\mathcal{A},\lambda)\to\mathbb{R}^\ell_+\times\mathcal{P}_{mo}$ , where  $a\mapsto\mathcal{E}(a)=(e(a),\succ_a)$ .  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field of subsets of A.  $\lambda$  is a finite non-negative measure on  $\mathcal{A}$ . A is the set of consumers. An element  $S\in\mathcal{A}$  is a coalition of consumers. A coalition S is said to be non-null if  $\lambda(S)>0$ . We shall assume that the measure space is complete. Thus, all sets  $S\subset A$  for which there exists a null set  $T\in$  where  $S\subset T$  are again in . The vector e(a) is the initial endowment of consumer a and  $\in$  is consumer a's preference relation on . We assume that  $e:A\to$  is an integrable function with . Furthermore, we assume that is measurable in the sense that for any measurable functions  $f,g:A\to$  we have  $\{a\in A\mid f(a)g(a)\}\in$ .

Consider a consumer a in the economy and a consumption plan  $x \in$ . Then we define a's net trade as x - e(a). Since we have assumed that the consumers' consumption sets equal then the set of net trades which are individually feasible for a is  $-\{e(a)\}$ .

### Definition 1

Let be an economy. An allocation for the coalition S is an integrable function  $x : S \rightarrow An$  attainable allocation x for the coalition  $S \in B$  an allocation for S such that

 $x(a) \in for \ a.a. \ a \in A \ and$ .

An attainable allocation x is an allocation which is attainable for A. We let X() denote the allocations that are attainable in the economy.

Thus, an allocation x is attainable for the coalition S if S can ensure its members x(a),  $a \in S$ , by using its aggregate initial endowment.

An allocation  $x \in X(\mathcal{E})$  is said to be *individually rational* if  $e(a) \not\vdash_a x(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in A$ . Thus, an allocation x is individually rational if there is no coalition with positive measure such that all agents in the coalition prefer their initial endowments to the bundle they obtain by x. An allocation  $x \in X(\mathcal{E})$  is said to be *Pareto efficient* if there does not exist  $y \in X(\mathcal{E})$  such that  $y(a) \succ_a x(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in A$ . Thus an allocation x is Pareto efficient if it is impossible to distribute the total initial endowments in the economy such that almost all agents in A get bundles they prefer to the bundles obtained by x. When the consumers in an economy  $\mathcal{E}$  have preferences in  $\mathcal{P}^*_{mo}$ , then we say that an allocation has equal treatment if  $x(a) \sim_a x(b)$  for almost all  $a, b \in A$  for which  $(e(a), \succ_a) = (e(b), \succ_b)$ .

#### 2.1. Atomless Economies

An economy  $\mathcal{E}: (A, \mathcal{A}, \lambda) \to \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} \times \mathcal{P}_{mo}$  is called an *atomless economy* if  $(A, \mathcal{A}, \lambda)$  is an atomless measure space. That is, for all  $S \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $\lambda(S) > 0$  there exists  $B \subset S$ ,  $B \in \mathcal{A}$ 

 $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $\lambda(B) > 0$  and  $\lambda(S \setminus B) > 0$ . Hence, an economy is atomless if any non-null coalition can be split into two non-null coalitions. Clearly, if an economy is atomless then each individual agent is a null set and there is necessarily a more than countable number of agents in the economy. Atomless economies were introduced by Aumann (1964) as a way to formalize that the economy consists of many (a continuum of) small agents. Modeling a real world economy as an atomless economy makes it endogenous that agents individually have no influence on the set of attainable allocations for any coalition. If an allocation is attainable for S and a null set of agents changes their consumption plan, the new allocation is again attainable for S.

A useful tool in analyzing atomless economies is Lyapunov's Theorem as introduced into economics by Vind (1964).

### Theorem 1 (Lyapunov)

Consider a finite family of finite non-negative atomless measures  $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2, ..., \mu_n)$  on the measurable space (A, A). Then the range  $R(\mu) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \text{there exists } C \in A \text{ where } x_h = \mu_h(C), \ h = 1, ..., n\}$  is a compact and convex subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Clearly, Lyapunov's Theorem implies that for an atomless economy  $\mathcal{E}$  with consumers in  $(A, A, \lambda)$  and an integrable function  $x: A \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$ ,  $\{\int_S x d\lambda \mid S \in A\}$  is a convex subset of  $\mathbb{R}^\ell$ . Moreover for any correspondence (set-valued function)  $\phi: A \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^\ell$ , the set  $\int_A \phi d\lambda = \{\int_A f d\lambda \mid f(a) \in \phi(a) \text{ a.a. } a \in A \text{ and } f \text{ integrable}\}$  is convex.

#### 2.2. Finite Economies

A finite economy is an economy  $\mathcal{E}:(A,\ \mathcal{A},\ \lambda)\to\mathbb{R}_+^\ell\times\mathcal{P}_{mo}$  where A is a finite set,  $\mathcal{A}$  is all subsets of A, and  $\lambda$  is the counting measure, that is,  $\lambda S)=\frac{|S|}{|A|}$  for all  $S\subset A$ .

A useful tool in analyzing large finite economies is the Shapley-Folkman Theorem as introduced by Starr (1969).

## Theorem 2 (Shapley-Folkman)

Let  $Z_i$ , i = 1, ..., n be a family of non-empty subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and let  $u \in conv \sum_{i=1}^{n} Z_i$ . Then there are points  $u_i \in conv Z_i$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that  $x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i$  with  $u_i \in Z_i$  except for at most  $\ell$  of the points.

Note in particular, that the number of exceptional points, that is, points which are not in  $Z_i$ , depends on the dimension  $\ell$  of the Euclidean space but not on the number of sets in the family. The Shapley-Folkman Theorem is an approximate version of Lyapunov's Theorem. Consider for example the case where the sets  $Z_i$ , i = 1, ..., n, are uniformly bounded. Then the Euclidean distance between the convex hull of the sum of the sets and the sum itself is bounded independently of the number of sets in the family.

### 3. Walrasia

### 3.1. Walrasi

We shall no institution. T independent  $\leq 0$ }.

Definition 2

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an and an attair for a.a.  $a \in A$ 

A Walrasian that (p, x) allocations f

In a Walrasi  $z \le 0$  with preference reto manipula such that maction of an

# 3.2. Strongl

An elementa in Schmeidle

Definition 3

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a j  $a \in A$  and a

$$\sum_{b \in A} n_b(x(b))$$

The idea be considers the  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell} | b \in A$  net trades in of the consultance obtained fair net trade

is atomless in countable by Aumann im of) small endogenous ions for any nanges their

s introduced

 $(2, ..., \mu_n)$  on ists  $C \in \mathcal{A}$ 

is a convex  $\Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , the

inite set, A A.

Theorem as

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n} Z_i$ . Then except for at

ch are not in er of sets in Lyapunov's e uniformly of the sets ily.

# 3. Walrasian Equilibrium

#### 3.1. Walrasian Allocations

We shall now define the set of allocations, which can be obtained by the Walrasian institution. That is, attainable allocations that can be obtained by letting each consumer independently choose an optimal net trade in a Walrasian market  $M(p) = \{z \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} | p \cdot z \leq 0\}$ .

#### Definition 2

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an economy. The pair  $(p, x) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \setminus \{0\} \times X(\mathcal{E})$  consisting of a price system and an attainable allocation is a Walrasian Equilibrium for  $\mathcal{E}$  if  $[(i)]p(x(a) - e(a)) \le 0$  for a.a.  $a \in A, y \succ_{\alpha} x(a) \Rightarrow p(y - e(a)) > 0$  a.a.  $a \in A$ .

A Walrasian allocation is an allocation x for which there exists a price system p such that (p, x) is a Walrasian Equilibrium. We let  $W(\mathcal{E})$  denote the set of Walrasian allocations for the economy  $\mathcal{E}$ .

In a Walrasian equilibrium all consumers take the Walrasian market  $M(p) = \{z \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \mid p \cdot z \leq 0\}$  with the price system p as given and choose net trades so as to maximize their preference relations. If the economy  $\mathcal{E}$  is atomless then of course no agent will be able to manipulate the Walrasian price system. More precisely, assume that prices are set such that markets clear. Then the price system clears the markets independent of the action of an individual agent (and a null set of agents).

# 3.2. Strongly Fair Net Trades

An elementary characterization of a Walrasian allocation for a finite economy  $\mathcal{E}$  is given in Schmeidler and Vind (1972).

#### Definition 3

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a finite economy. The allocation x has strongly fair net trades if for all agents  $a \in A$  and all  $n_b \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ 

$$\sum_{b\in A} n_b(x(b)-e(b)) + e(a) \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell \Rightarrow \sum_{b\in A} n_b(x(b)-e(b)) + e(a) \not\succ_a x(a).$$

The idea behind the concept of strongly fair net trades is the following: Each agent a considers the net trades obtained by the agents in A, that is the set  $Zx = \{x(b) - e(b) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} | b \in A\}$  of net trades revealed by x. If the institution leading to x is fair, then all the net trades in  $Z_x$  should be available to any of the consumers. Hence, in equilibrium, none of the consumers should prefer any of these net trades to the net trade they themselves have obtained. (This equilibrium condition leads to the concept of allocations having fair net trades.) However, one might argue that an agent should also be able to obtain a

net trade which is the sum of net trades revealed by x, and also any net trade which is a linear combination of such net trades with non-negative integer weights. An agent just uses the market possibilities repeatedly. In equilibrium no agent should prefer such a combination of the net trades revealed by x. This is exactly what the condition in the definition of strongly fair net trades says.

Clearly, any Walrasian allocation has strongly fair net trades. Schmeidler and Vind (1972) show that apart from indivisibilities, this condition also characterizes a Walrasian allocation in the following sense. Assume that  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^\ell$  is the marketed subset of the commodity space, that is, for any price system  $p \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$  the Walrasian market given X equals  $\{z \in X \mid p \cdot z \leq 0\}$ . Thus for any price system p the consumers cannot choose net trades in the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^\ell$  but only in the marketed space X. We can now define the set of Walrasian allocations relative to X. The definition of a Walrasian allocation above being the special case where  $X = \mathbb{R}^\ell$ . Vind and Schmeidler show that if the attainable allocation x has strongly fair net trades and reveals divisibility (for a precise definition see Schmeidler and Vind) then x is a Walrasian allocation relative to the smallest linear subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^\ell$  containing  $\{(x(a) - e(a)) \mid a \in A\} \cup \{c\}$  for any  $c \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$ , c >> 0. In particular, if the dimension of smallest linear subspace containing  $\{(x(a) - e(a)) \mid a \in A\}$  has dimension  $\ell - 1$ , then x is a Walrasian allocation.

The main insight used in the proof of Schmeidler and Vind's theorem is that when x is an attainable allocation, then the set  $\tilde{Z}_x = \{\sum_{b \in A} n_b(x(b) - e(b)) \mid n_b \in \mathbb{Z}_+\}$  with addition is a group. Clearly  $\tilde{Z}_x$  is closed under addition and  $0 \in \tilde{Z}_x$ . To see that all  $z \in \tilde{Z}_x$  have inverse elements in  $\tilde{Z}_x$  consider any  $z = \sum_{b \in A} n_b(x(b) - e(b)) \in \tilde{Z}_x$ . Since  $x(b) - e(b) = -\sum_{a \neq b} (x(a) - e(a))$  for all  $b \in A$ , then -z is also in  $\tilde{Z}_x$ .

A theorem corresponding to Schmeidler and Vind's also holds for an atomless economy  $\mathcal E$ . Define for each attainable allocation x the net trade set  $\overline{Z}_x = \{\int_S (x-e) \ d\lambda | S \in \mathcal A \}$ . We now say that the allocation x has strongly fair net trades if, for no non-null coalition S, there exists an integrable function  $y:S \to \mathbb R^\ell_+$  such that

[(i)] for all 
$$S' \subset S$$
,  $S' \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $\int_{S'} (y - e) d\lambda \in \overline{Z}_x$ , and  $y(a) \succ_a x(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in S$ .

It is easily seen that a Walrasian allocation has still strongly fair net trades. The opposite conclusion, namely that an attainable allocation x with strongly fair net trades is a Walrasian allocation relative to the smallest linear subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^\ell$  containing  $\overline{Z}_x \cup \{c\}$  for any  $c \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$ , c >> 0, also holds true. This follows, as in Schmeidler and Vind's theorem, since the set  $\overline{Z}_x$  is compact and convex by Lyapunov's Theorem. Moreover,  $\overline{Z}_x$  is symmetric since x is an attainable allocation, and clearly  $0 \in \overline{Z}_x$ .

In Vind (19 are defined Clearly, the Schmeidler McLennan structure of define a structure at which all si

# 4. Equivale

### 4.1. The C

The Core instead of c

Definition -

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a  $S \in \mathcal{A}$  ca with [(i)]y(

The Core of cannot be i

Definition

Let E be a exist a non Core of the

The princip institution. no non-nul that almost definition institutions private pro

A Walrasia (1964), is economies

Theorem 3

Let  $\mathcal{E}$ : (A,

©Encyclopedia

e which is a n agent just refer such a lition in the

r and Vind racterizes a keted subset sian market mers cannot Ve can now a Walrasian er show that bility (for a n relative to

at when x is with addition  $\in \tilde{Z}_x$  have any f(x) = f(x) and f(x) = f(x) an

for any  $c \in$ 

ining  $\{(x(a))\}$ 

ss economy  $d\lambda | S \in \mathcal{A}$ }. ull coalition

The opposite trades is a g  $\bar{Z}_x \cup \{c\}$  and Vind's . Moreover,

In Vind (1978) the concept of a simple market and a corresponding equilibrium notion are defined. A market is simple if it contains any finite sum of elements of itself. Clearly, the set  $\tilde{Z}_x$  defined above is an example of a simple market. Analogously with Schmeidler and Vind's Theorem, Vind obtains an equivalence result. The paper by McLennan and Sonnenschein (1991) also contains an equivalence result based on the structure of the set of net trades available to the agents. McLennan and Sonnenschein define a strategic market game with a continuum of agents and give conditions under which all subgame perfect equilibria of the market game yield Walrasian allocations.

# 4. Equivalences in Atomless Economies

#### 4.1. The Core

The Core of an economy is defined analogously to the Core of a game. However, instead of considering utility profiles we look at the set of attainable allocations.

#### Definition 4

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an economy and let x be an allocation for  $\mathcal{E}$ . We say that a non-null coalition  $S \in \mathcal{A}$  can improve upon x, if there exists an attainable allocation  $y: S \to \mathbb{R}^\ell_+$  for S with  $[(i)]y(a) \succ x(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in S$ .

The Core of an economy  $\mathcal E$  is defined as the set of attainable allocations for  $\mathcal E$ , which cannot be improved upon by any non-null coalition. Formally,

### Definition 5

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an economy. The allocation x is in the Core if  $x \in X(\mathcal{E})$  and if there does not exist a non-null coalition  $S \in \mathcal{A}$ , which can improve upon x. We let  $Core(\mathcal{E})$  denote the Core of the economy  $\mathcal{E}$ .

The principles behind the Core are very different from the ones behind the Walrasian institution. An attainable allocation is in the Core if it is stable in the sense that there is no non-null coalition, which can redistribute its total initial endowments in such a way that almost every member of the coalition obtains a preferred commodity bundle. In the definition of the Core, no agent or coalition is restricted by a priori given market institutions. The only restriction on the attainable allocations for a coalition is the private property right to the initial endowments.

A Walrasian allocation is in the Core, but the very interesting result, shown by Aumann (1964), is that the set of Walrasian allocations and the Core coincide for atomless economies.

# Theorem 3 (Aumann's Core Equivalence Theorem)

Let  $\mathcal{E}: (A, A, \lambda) \to \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} \times \mathcal{P}_{mo}$  be an atomless economy. Then  $W(\mathcal{E}) = Core(\mathcal{E})$ .

The version we have given of Aumann's equivalence theorem is due to Schmeidler (1969), who realized that Aumann's theorem also holds true if agents have non-complete preferences.

The proof of Aumann's theorem is quite easy when Lyapunov's theorem is used. Consider an allocation  $x \in Core(\mathcal{E})$ . For each coalition S, define the set of preferred net trades by  $\Psi_S = \{z \in \mathbb{R}^\ell \mid \exists y : S \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \text{ such that } y(a) + e(a) \succ_a x(a) \text{ a.a. } a \in S \text{ and } \int_S y d\lambda = z\}$ . Let  $\Psi = \bigcup_{\lambda(S)>0} \Psi_S$ . Clearly,  $0 \notin \Psi$  since  $x \in Core(\mathcal{E})$ . Moreover  $\Psi$  is convex. Indeed define the modified preferred correspondence  $\psi : A \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^\ell$  by  $\psi(a) = \{z \in \mathbb{R}^\ell \mid z + e(a) \succ_a x(a)\} \cup \{0\}$ . Then  $\Psi = \int_A \psi d\lambda$  and  $\int_A \psi d\lambda$  is convex by Lyapunov's Theorem. By monotonicity  $0 \in bd\Psi$  and also  $\Psi \cap \{u \in \mathbb{R}^\ell \mid u << 0\} = \emptyset$ . Hence, there exists a price system  $p \in \mathbb{R}^\ell \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\{0\}$  is separated from  $\Psi$ . At the price system p any net trade, which is preferred by a non-null coalition has a non-negative value. Monotonicity implies that  $p \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$ . The fact that x is attainable allows us to show that (p, x) is a Walrasian equilibrium.

In general, the Core equivalence theorem does not hold when the measure space of agents has atoms, for example if the economy has a finite number of consumers. However there have are several papers (for example Gabszewicz and Mertens (1971) and Shitovitz (1973)) in which the authors obtain Core equivalence assuming that for each atom there exists agents in the atomless part with the same characteristics, and that the atoms are not too big relative to the atomless coalitions of similar consumers.

The Core equivalence theorem has been extended in many different directions. For example it was shown by Schmeidler (1972) that an attainable allocation which is not in the Core can be improved upon by an arbitrarily small coalition, and by Grodal (1972) that the small coalition can further be restricted to consist of small groups of similar agents. Moreover, Vind (1972) shows that if an attainable allocation can be improved upon then it can also be improved upon by an arbitrarily large coalition.

Recently, Ellickson et al. (1999) showed that the Core equivalence theorem extends to club economies. They assume that consumers trade private commodities on a market, can belong to several clubs, and care about the characteristics of the other members of their clubs. In an attainable allocation, all seats in club type are filled or no seats are filled. In a *Club (Walrasian) Equilibrium*, not only the private commodities are priced but also membership of the clubs. The Core is defined analogously to the definition of the Core in a private goods economy. An attainable allocation is in the Core if no non-null coalition can form clubs and distribute private commodity bundles by using the coalition's initial endowments and thereby ensure that almost all of its members get combinations of private commodities and club memberships which they prefer.

Aumann's (1964) theorem has also been extended to infinite dimensional commodity spaces. For example, Bewley (1973) extended Aumann's Core Equivalence Theorem to the case where the commodity space is the set of essential bounded measurable functions on a measure space,  $L_{\infty}$ . However, as has been shown by Ostroy and Zame

(1994), the continuum of commomeasure sp

However, i

economies preferences complete a which are equivalence of club economics all  $x \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}$ 

# 4.2. The B

The Core a coalition of However, of has an objicounter-objicooperative economy the repeated here.

Definition

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a where  $S \in x$  if  $\int_{S} y \, d\lambda$ 

Definition

Let (S, y) and z : T - 0, and [(i + i)]

Definition

An objection Colell Bar justified ob

Clearly, the Walrasian

©Encyclopedia

Schmeidler have non-

is used. The referred net and  $\int_S y d\lambda$  is convex. The following  $\{z \in \mathbb{R}^\ell \mid Lyapunov's\}$ 

ence, there rice system tive value. show that

re space of consumers. tens (1971) ng that for cs, and that ers.

ctions. For ch is not in odal (1972) s of similar e improved

extends to n a market, members of to seats are are priced efinition of the if no nony using the tembers get er.

commodity
Theorem to
measurable
and Zame

(1994), the Core equivalence in an economy with a continuum of agents and a continuum of commodities is much more subtle than the equivalence when the number of commodities is finite. When there is a continuum of commodities, an atomless measure space of agents does not, in general, imply Core equivalence.

However, in economies with finitely many commodities, the Core equivalence result for economies with many small agents is a very robust. Almost no assumptions on the preferences are needed, in particular, preferences are not assumed to be convex or complete and the equivalence holds with many types of restrictions on the coalitions which are "allowed" to improve upon an attainable allocation. Moreover, the equivalence holds when there are limited externalities among consumers, as in the case of club economies. (A preference relation  $\succ$  is convex if  $\{y \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} | y \succ x\}$  is convex for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}$ .)

# 4.2. The Bargaining Set

The Core as defined above is based on a veto power from any coalition; as soon as a coalition can improve upon an attainable allocation, this allocation is dismissed. However, one might argue that a coalition, which can improve upon an allocation only has an objection against the allocation and that this objection might be met with a counter-objection. This argument leads to the Bargaining Set. The *Bargaining Set* for cooperative games was introduced by Aumann and Maschler (1964). For an atomless economy the Bargaining Set was first defined by MasColell (1989) and the definition is repeated here.

### Definition 6

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an economy in which the consumers have preferences in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$ . The pair (S, y), where  $S \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $y: S \to \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ , is integrable, is an objection to the attainable allocation x if  $\int_S y \, d\lambda \leq \int_S e \, d\lambda$ , and  $y(a) \succsim_a x(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in S$  and  $\lambda(\{a \in S \mid y(a) \succ_a x(a)\}) > 0$ .

#### Definition 7

Let (S, y) be an objection to the attainable allocation x. The pair (T, z), where  $T \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $z : T \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$  is integrable, is a counter-objection to (S, y) if  $\int_T z \, d\lambda \leq \int_T e \, d\lambda$ ,  $\lambda(T) > 0$ , and  $[(i)]z(a) \succ_a y(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in T \cap S$   $z(a) \succ_a x(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in T \setminus S$ .

#### **Definition 8**

An objection (S, y) is said to be justified if there is no counter-objection to it. The Mas-Colell Bargaining Set is the set of attainable allocations against which there is no justified objection.

Clearly, the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set contains the Core, and hence the set of Walrasian allocations. The main result in Mas-Colell (1989) is that in an atomless

economy the converse is also true. Thus, even if only justified objections are allowed, we again get an equivalence result.

# Theorem 4 (Mas-Colell's Bargaining Set Equivalence Theorem)

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an atomless economy and assume that consumers have preferences in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$ . Then an allocation x is in the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set if and only if it is a Walrasian allocation.

The proof of the above equivalence is based on an interesting observation, namely that there are only few justified objections and that these can be characterized by a price system. Indeed, define

#### Definition 9

The objection (S, y) to the attainable allocation x is a Walrasian objection if there is a price system  $p \neq 0$  such that

$$[(i)]v \succsim_a y(a) \Rightarrow p \cdot v \ge p \cdot e(a)$$
 for a.a.  $a \in S$ ,  $v \succsim_a x(a) \Rightarrow p \cdot v \ge p \cdot e(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in A \setminus S$ .

The connection between justified objections and Walrasian objections are given by the following proposition

# Proposition

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an atomless economy and assume that consumers have preferences in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$ . An objection (S, y) is justified if and only if it is Walrasian.

Thus, coalitions S which not only can improve upon a given allocation x but which are part of justified objections (S, y) to x are much more determinate. Given an attainable allocation x and a price system p almost all agents  $a \in A$  who prefer their Walrasian demands at p to x(a) must be part of the group of agents attempting to make an objection to x sustainable by the price system p.

The proposition above also shows why stronger conditions are needed to obtain the Bargaining Set equivalence than the Core equivalence. For any attainable allocation x let  $v_x$ :  $A \times \Delta \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by  $v_x(a, p) = \inf\{p \cdot z \mid z + e(a) \succ_a x(a)\}$ . Moreover let  $C_x(p) = \{a \in A \mid v_x(a, p) < 0\}$  and  $D_x(p) = \{a \in A \mid v_x(a, p) \leq 0\}$ . Clearly, the attainable allocation x is not a Walrasian allocation if and only if for all  $p \in \Delta$ ,  $\lambda(C_x(p)) > 0$ . Hence, in order to get the Bargaining Set equivalence it is necessary that for any attainable allocation which is not a Walrasian allocation, there exists  $\overline{p} \in \Delta$  and  $S \in A$  such that  $C_x(\overline{p}) \subset S \subset D_x(\overline{p})$  and such that the following two conditions are satisfied

[(i)] For all  $a \in S \setminus C_x(\overline{p})$  there exists a maximal element y(a) for  $\succ_a$  in the budget set

 $B_a(\overline{p}) = \{u \in for \succ_a in the \in \mathcal{A}, \lambda(F) > for \succ_a in the \in \mathcal{A}, \lambda(F) > for \vdash_a in the fo$ 

Hence, in or maximal elem only guarante theorems for along these li

Schjødt and S size of the co make counter of the coalition which can er larger than th Bargaining Sc

The original A who is the lea not contain the Maschler Bar requiring that

However, in agents. Hence in the group of

Let  $\delta > 0$  and that  $U \subset S$ ,  $\lambda t$  counter-object is no counter attainable allow Mas-Colell by thus the equiv

It is easily set the equivalent to  $y(a) \succ_a x(a)$ strengthened equivalence: the attainable

### 4.3. The Value

In this section

e allowed,

es in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$  . Walrasian

namely that by a price

f there is a

 $a.a. \ a \in A$ 

iven by the

es in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$ .

t which are attainable Walrasian o make an

obtain the allocation x for any  $\Delta$  and  $S \in$  e satisfied

budget set

 $B_a(\overline{p}) = \{u \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} | \overline{p}u \leq \overline{p}e(a)\}$ . For all  $a \in C_x(\overline{p})$  there exists a maximal element y(a) for  $\succ_a$  in the budget set  $B_a(\overline{p})$  such that y(a) x(a) and, moreover, there must exist  $F \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $\lambda(F) > 0$ , with  $F \subset \{a \in C_x(\overline{p}) | y(a) \succ_a x(a)\}$ .

Hence, in order to obtain the Bargaining Set equivalence we need that there exist maximal elements in the consumers' budget sets. However, it is well known that this is only guaranteed if either  $\succ_a$  is transitive or convex. Grodal (1988) gives equivalence theorems for economies in which the consumers have non-complete preference relations along these lines.

Schjødt and Sloth (1994) analyze the Bargaining Set when there are restrictions on the size of the coalitions which can make objections and also, on the coalitions which can make counter-objections. They show, not surprisingly, that if one restricts the measure of the coalitions which can enter into objections, as well as the measure of the coalitions which can enter into counter-objections, then the modified Bargaining Set is strictly larger than the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set. Hence, in contrast to the Core, this modified Bargaining Set will not entail equivalence to the set of Walrasian allocations.

The original Aumann and Maschler (1964) Bargaining Set requires that there is a player who is the leader of an objection (S, y) and that a counter-objection against (S, y) does not contain the leader. Geanakoplos (1978) defines a modification of the Aumann and Maschler Bargaining Set for a finite exchange economy with transferable utility, still requiring that there is "a leader" of an objection.

However, in the Geanakoplos Bargaining Set "the leader" is a fixed fraction of the agents. Hence, as the number of players in the economy increases, the number of agents in the group of leaders is also allowed to grow.

Let  $\delta > 0$  and define a  $\delta$ -objection to the attainable allocation x as a triple (U, S, y) such that  $U \subset S$ ,  $\lambda(U) \leq \delta$ , and (S, y) is an objection to x. A counter-objection to (U, S, y) is a counter-objection (T, z) to (S, y) such that  $U \cap T = \emptyset$ . A  $\delta$ -objection is justified if there is no counter-objection to it. Now define the Geanakoplos  $\delta$ -Bargaining Set as all attainable allocations x for which every  $\delta$ -objection has a counter-objection. Clearly, the Mas-Colell bargaining Set contains the Geanakoplos  $\delta$ -Bargaining Set for all  $\delta > 0$ , and thus the equivalence result again holds true for the Geanakoplos  $\delta$ -Bargaining Set.

It is easily seen from the proof of Mas-Colell's Bargaining Set equivalence theorem that the equivalence is not true if the requirement to an objection (S, y) to x is strengthened to  $y(a) \succ_a x(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in S$ . However, as noted by Mas-Colell (1989), if one uses this strengthened request to a  $\delta$ -objection (U, S, y) to x, then we obtain the following equivalence: Given any  $\delta > 0$ , if there is no strengthened justified  $\delta$ -objection against the attainable allocation x, then x is a Walrasian allocation.

### 4.3. The Value

In this section we consider another fundamental equivalence, namely the equivalence

between the set of Value allocations, as defined in Aumann (1975), and the set of Walrasian allocations. The Value allocations originate from Shapley's (1953) definition of the Value of a transferable utility (TU) game. The Shapley Value is based on agents' marginal worth to the coalitions in which they are members. Thus, the solution concept is quite different from the Core and the Bargaining Set.

Before defining the Value allocations for an atomless economy we first recall Shapley's definition of the Value of a finite TU game. Let N be a finite set of players and let  $\mathcal{N}=2^N$  be the coalitions. A game v on N is a function  $v:\mathcal{N}\to\mathbb{R}$ , with  $v(\emptyset)=0$ . Let V be the set of games on N. For all  $S\in\mathcal{N}$  we call v(S) the worth of S. A payoff is any measure on  $\mathcal{N}$ . Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be the set of measures on  $\mathcal{N}$ . A null player in the game v is a player  $a\in A$  with  $v(S)=v(S\cup\{i\})$  for all  $S\in\mathcal{N}$ . Players a and b are called substitutes if  $v(S\cup\{a\})=v(S\cup\{b\})$  for all  $S\in\mathcal{N}$  with  $a,b\notin S$ . The Value  $\varphi$  is a function  $\varphi:V\to\mathcal{M}$ ,  $v\mapsto \varphi v$  which satisfies the following conditions:

[(i)]Additivity:  $\varphi(v+w) = \varphi(v+w)$ , Symmetry:  $(\varphi v)(\{a\}) = (\varphi v)(\{b\})$  whenever a and b are substitutes, Efficiency:  $(\varphi v)(N) = v(N)$  Null player condition:  $(\varphi v)(\{a\}) = 0$  whenever a is a null player in v.

Shapley (1953) showed that there is one and only one Value  $\varphi$ . It is given by the formula  $(\phi v)(\{a\}) = E(v(S_a \cup \{a\}) - v(S_a))$ , where  $S_a$  is the set of all players preceding a in a random order on N, and E is the expectation operator when all |N|! such orders are assigned equal probability. Hence, the Shapley Value assigns to each player his marginal contribution averaged over all random orders on the set of agents.

As we are going to consider atomless economies, we now recall Kannai's (1966) definition of the asymptotic Value of a continuous game. In order to define the Value of a continuum transferable utility game, one simply approximates the continuum game with finite games and uses a limit argument to obtain a Value of the infinite game. Since we shall not use the explicit construction, we refer the reader to Kannai (1966) and Aumann and Shapley (1971) for the exact construction. This Value  $\phi v$  of a game v, constructed by taking the limits of finite approximations to v, is called the *asymptotic Value* of v and it is a finitely additive measure on (A, A).

In order to define the Value allocations of our atomless economy we make the following definition.

#### Definition 10

A family of utility functions  $(u_a)_{a \in A}$ , where  $u_a$ :  $\mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}$  is called bounded differentiable if the following conditions are satisfied:

 $[(i)]u_a$  is  $C^1$  for all  $a \in A$ . The function  $u(\cdot): A \times \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$  is jointly measurable. The family of functions  $(u_a)_{a \in A}$  are uniformly bounded. The derivatives  $u'_a$  are, in compact sets, uniformly bounded and are uniformly bounded away from 0.

For each  $(\succ_a)_{a \in A}$  w

 $v_U(S) = r$ 

The numb of utility r players do

Clearly, to preference different assumption defined.

Definition

An attaind bounded a such that

 $(\varphi v_U)(S)$ 

Thus, a Normal property to when these exactly a society. No agents, no

Aumann (smooth. Tsmooth are unifo

We now h

derivative

Theorem

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a [0, 1] with

the set of definition on agents' on concept

Shapley's ad let  $\mathcal{N} = 0$ . Let V be voff is any game v is a substitutes ection  $\varphi : V$ 

 $(\{a\}) = 0$ wen by the

receding a

orders are player his

ai's (1966) he Value of uum game ame. Since (1966) and a game v, asymptotic

following

ferentiable

rable. The in compact

For each family  $U = (u_a)_{a \in A}$  of bounded differentiable representation of the preferences  $(\succ_a)_{a \in A}$  we define a game  $v_U$  on (A, A) by letting

$$v_U(S) = \max \left\{ \int_S u_a(x(a)) d\lambda \mid \int_S x(a) d\lambda = \int_S e(a) d\lambda, x(a) \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} \text{ a.a. } a \in S \right\}$$

The number  $v_U(S)$  can be interpreted as the maximum welfare, measured in the family of utility representations U, the coalition S can guarantee itself no matter what the other players do.

Clearly, the game  $v_U$  depends on the family U of representations of the agents' preference relations. We now define the set of Value allocations by considering different bounded differentiable representations of the consumers' preferences. Our assumptions on U imply that the asymptotic Values  $\varphi v_U$  of the games  $v_U$  are well defined.

### Definition 11

An attainable allocation x for the economy  $\mathcal{E}$  is a Value allocation if there exists a bounded differentiable family U of utility representation for the consumers' preferences such that

$$(\varphi v_U)(S) = \int_S u_a(x(a)))d\lambda$$
 for all  $S \in \mathcal{A}$ ..

Thus, a Value allocation is an attainable allocation for the economy  $\mathcal{E}$  having the property that there exists utility representations for the consumers' preferences such that when these utility functions are used to define aggregate welfare, almost all agents get exactly a utility level equal to their own marginal contribution to the welfare of the society. Note, that even if the game  $v_U$  is defined by making transfers of utility among agents, no transfers take place in a Value allocation.

Aumann (1975) introduces the assumption that preferences of the agents are uniformly smooth. The family  $(\succ_a)_{a\in A}$  is said to be *uniformly smooth* if each of the preferences are smooth and there exists a bounded differentiable family  $(u_a)_{a\in A}$  of utility functions representing consumers' preferences such that the family of Gaussian curvatures  $(u_a^c)_{a\in A}$  are uniformly bounded away from 0 in compact sets, and the family of second derivatives  $(u_a^n)_{a\in A}$  are uniformly bounded in compact sets.

We now have the following theorem.

# Theorem 5 (Aumann's Value Equivalence Theorem)

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an atomless economy in which the measurable space  $(A, \mathcal{A})$  is isomorphic to [0, 1] with the Borel  $\sigma$ -field. Assume that consumers have uniformly smooth preferences

and that e is uniformly bounded. Then the set of Value allocations coincides with the set of Walrasian allocations.

The proof of Aumann's Value equivalence theorem is based on the theory of non-atomic games developed in Aumann and Shapley (1971). Thus, the proof is very different from the proof of the Core and Bargaining Set equivalence theorems. Moreover, the equivalence rests on much stronger assumptions on the atomless economy than the Core and Bargaining Set equivalences. However, Aumann (1975) gives counter examples showing that the Value equivalence does not hold without differentiability assumptions. Also, it should be noted that the Walrasian allocations are not, in general, a subset of the set of Value Allocations.

# 4.4. Axiomatic Approach to the Equivalence Phenomenon

Dubey and Neyman (1997) have given an axiomatic foundation for the Core equivalence theorem and the Value equivalence theorem. They consider a family of economies  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$  with a fixed atomless measure space  $(A, \mathcal{A}, \lambda)$  of agents and impose restrictions on how the set of "equilibrium allocations" behave when different mappings  $\mathcal{E}$  are considered. Clearly, this approach is very different from considering one economy and comparing different institutions in this one economy.

As in Aumann's Value equivalence theorem, it is assumed that the measurable space  $(A, \mathcal{A})$  of agents is isomorphic to [0, 1] with the Borel  $\sigma$ -field. All economies in  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$  have a finite dimensional commodity space. Thus, the number of commodities is allowed to vary. Moreover, consumers in an economy in  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$  are assumed to have uniformly bounded initial endowments and to have preferences in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$  which are smooth. (The conditions in Dubey and Neyman (1997) on the preferences are slightly weaker.)

Let F be the set of allocations for economies in  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$ . For each  $E \in \tilde{\mathcal{M}}$  define  $F(E) \subset F$  as the set of attainable allocations for  $\mathcal{E}$  that are bounded, individually rational, and Pareto efficient. Dubey and Neyman (1997) define admissible correspondences in the following way:

Definition 12.

The correspondence  $\tilde{\varphi}: \tilde{\mathcal{M}} \to F$  is admissible if the values of  $\tilde{\varphi}$  are non-empty,  $\tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E}) \subset F(\mathcal{E})$  and  $x \in \tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E})$ ,  $y \in F(\mathcal{E})$ , and  $x(a) \sim_a y(a)$  for a.a.  $a \in A$  imply  $y \in \tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E})$ .

Dubey and Neyman introduce the following four axioms:

[(i)] Anonymity: Only the characteristics of the agents matter. Equity: For any economy there exists an allocation in  $\tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E})$  such that almost all agents with identical characteristics get equivalent bundles. Consistency: Consider three economies,  $\mathcal{E}^i$ , i=1,2,3, with respectively l, k and l+k commodities. Let the initial endowments in  $\mathcal{E}^i$  be  $e^i$  and assume  $e^3=(e^1,e^2)\in\mathbb{R}^\ell_+\times\mathbb{R}^k_+$ . Moreover, assume that the preferences of the

agents  $\mathcal{E}^3$  and  $\mathcal{E}^1$  repreference

If  $x \in \tilde{\varphi}$  (

Moreover,

Restricted Briefly, th demand th space that

Theorem 6

There is of Anonymity correspond for  $\mathcal{E}$ .

It is easily axioms. H the three conomies comparable

5. Approx

In this sec

5.1. The **C** 

Clearly, to Hence, co investigati large finit set of Wa economies (1995) ar Equilibria influential sequence in which functions.

Hence the

converge

with the set

non-atomic ferent from reover, the an the Core or examples ssumptions. ubset of the

the Core a family of and impose at mappings dering one

le space  $(A, \tilde{M})$  have a allowed to e uniformly mooth. (The ser.)

the  $F(E) \subset F$  ational, and ences in the

npty,  $ilde{arphi}\left(\mathcal{E}
ight)$ ,  $ilde{arphi}\left(\mathcal{E}
ight)$ .

agents  $\mathcal{E}^3$  satisfy the independence axiom with respect to the set of commodities in  $\mathcal{E}^2$  and  $\mathcal{E}^1$  respectively, and that the preferences in  $\mathcal{E}^1$  and  $\mathcal{E}^2$  are consistent with the preferences in  $\mathcal{E}^3$ . The consistence axiom states:

If  $x \in \tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E}^1)$ ,  $y \in \tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E}^2)$  and (x, y) is Pareto efficient in  $\mathcal{E}^3$ , then  $(x, y) \in \tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E}^3)$ . Moreover, if  $(x, e^2) \in \tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E}^3)$  then  $x \in \tilde{\varphi}(\mathcal{E}^1)$ .

Restricted Continuity: Detailing this axiom goes beyond the scope of this chapter. Briefly, the idea is to introduce the concept of "TU-like at a positive level" and to demand that the correspondence  $\tilde{\varphi}$  induces a correspondence with values in the payoff space that are continuous on the set of such economies.

# Theorem 6 (Dubey and Neyman)

There is one and only one admissible correspondence  $\tilde{\varphi}$  defined on  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$  which satisfies Anonymity, Equity, Consistency, and Restricted Continuity, and that is the correspondence which maps each of the economies into the set of Walrasian allocations for  $\mathcal{E}$ .

It is easily shown that the Core and the Value correspondences also satisfy the four axioms. Hence, Dubey and Neyman have shown that the equivalence principle between the three concepts holds for the class of atomless economies  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}$ . Clearly, this space of economies is much smaller than the space where the Core equivalence holds; but it is comparable with the space of economies used in Aumann's Value equivalence theorem.

# 5. Approximations to Equivalence: Large Finite Economies

In this section we consider large finite economies.

### 5.1. The Core

Clearly, to describe a real world economy as an atomless economy is an abstraction. Hence, conclusions derived from atomless economies ought to be followed up by an investigation into whether the conclusions are true, in some approximate version, for large finite economies. There is an extensive literature on the connection between the set of Walrasian allocations or Walras-like allocations and the Core in large, but finite economies. The origin of the work can be traced back to Edgeworth (1881) (Vind (1995) argues that Edgeworth did not analyze the Core but the set of Exchange Equilibria.). For an extensive overview of the literature see Anderson (1992). The most influential paper is Debreu and Scarf (1963). In that paper Debreu and Scarf consider a sequence of economies, constructed by letting be the n-fold replica of a finite economy in which consumers' preferences are represented by strictly quasiconcave utility functions. Debreu and Scarf prove that Core() is decreasing and that Core() = W(). Hence the distance between the set of Core allocations and the Walrasian allocations converge to 0 along the sequence.

Since Debreu and Scarf's paper many different versions of their convergence result have been obtained. The assumptions have be weakened and one has obtained convergence for non-replica sequences of economies with a growing number of agents. The reader is referred to the classical book Hildenbrand (1974) and to the survey by Anderson (1992). A natural question to ask in relation to Debreu and Scarf's theorem is how fast the sequence  $Core(\mathcal{E}^n)$  converges to  $W(\mathcal{E}^1)$ . Debreu (1975) shows that for replica of a smooth and regular economy, the speed of convergence is o(n); a theorem which is generalized to arbitrary sequences in Grodal (1975).

In general there are many ways one can define an approximation to the Core equivalence theorem for large economies. In Debreu and Scarf's theorem we have a very strong kind of approximate Core equivalence when the replication is sufficiently large. The distance between the set of Walrasian allocations and the Core converges to zero. As shown by Bewley (1973) such a strong approximate Core equivalence result cannot, in general, be obtained for large finite economies.

We define approximate equivalence if there exists for any Core allocation, a price system such that the Core allocation can be approximately decentralized by this price system. Thus we shall state the classical theorem from Anderson (1978), which gives a very elegant result on approximate decentralization of Core allocations in a finite economy in which consumers have preferences in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}$ . (For another and independent version of the theorem see Dierker (1975).)

### Theorem 7 (Anderson)

Let  $\mathcal{E}: A \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} \times \mathcal{P}_{mo}$  be a finite economy and let  $x \in Core(\mathcal{E})$ . Then there exists  $p \in \Delta$  such that

$$[(i)] \sum_{a \in A} |p \cdot (x(a) - e(a))| \le 2\ell \max\{ ||e(a)|| \mid a \in A\} \sum_{a \in A} |\inf\{p \cdot (y - e(a))| \mid y \succeq_a x(a)\}| \le 2\ell \max\{ ||e(a)|| \mid a \in A\}.$$

The proof of the theorem follows Schmeidler's (1969) proof of Aumann's Core equivalence theorem. However, instead of using Lyapunov's Theorem one uses the Shapley-Folkman Theorem. Let  $M=\ell$   $\max\{\|e(a)\| \mid a\in A\}$  and consider an allocation  $x\in Core(\mathcal{E})$ . Define the modified preferred correspondence  $\psi:A\Rightarrow\mathbb{R}^\ell$  by  $\psi(a)=\{z\in\mathbb{R}^\ell\mid z+e(a)\succ_a\}\cup\{0\}$ . Let  $\Psi=\sum_{a\in A}\psi(a)$  and let  $\Omega=\{z\in\mathbb{R}^\ell\mid x<< M(1,\cdots,1)\}$ . The main step in the proof is to show that conv  $\Psi\cap\Omega=\emptyset$ . Assume to the contrary that  $z\in \text{conv }\Psi$  in  $\Omega$ . As  $z\in \text{conv }\Psi$ , Shapley-Folkman's Theorem states that there exists  $(z(a))_{a\in A}$  with  $z(a)\in \text{conv }\psi(a)$  such that  $\sum_{a\in A}z(a)=z$  and  $z(a)\in\psi(a)$  for all but  $\ell$  consumers. Let  $\{a_1,\ldots,a_k\}$ ,  $k\leq \ell$ , be the exceptional agents where  $z(a)\notin\psi(a)$ . Now consider the coalition  $B=\{a\in A|a\notin\{a_1,\ldots,a_k\}\}$  and  $z(a)\neq 0\}$ . For all agents  $a\in B$  we have  $z(a)+e(a)\succ_a x(a)$ . Moreover as  $z\in\Omega$  and  $z(a)\geq -\max\{\|e(a)\|\mid a\in A\}(1,\ldots,1)$  for all  $a\in A$  then  $\sum_{a\in B}z(a)<<0$ . Thus  $B\neq\emptyset$  and the coalition B can improve upon the allocation x. Hence we have a contradiction. As in the proof of Aumann's Core

equivalence  $\Omega_{-}$  from the  $\in \Delta$ . Again

It should be only deper endowment allocation.

 $\rho(p,x) =$ 

Anderson's a price sys

In Ellickso extends to complicate consume coalition B

Anderson the case vertical measure seconvergence convergence conve

### 5.2. The B

Since we had Bargaining natural to finite econ

In a recent the case for of economethe measural allocations economy is

In the exa

esult have nvergence e reader is on (1992). w fast the plica of a which is

the Core avery ntly large. es to zero. alt cannot,

n, a price this price ch gives a n a finite dependent

 $exists p \in$ 

- |e(a)|

nn's Core uses the location x  $(a) = \{z \in (1, \dots, 1)\}$ . htrary that ere exists all but  $\ell$  (a). Now  $a \in B$  we  $\{(1, \dots, 1)\}$  upon the

ın's Core

equivalence theorem we now obtain the existence of a price system  $p \neq 0$  that separates  $\Omega_{-}$  from the aggregate preferred set of net trades,  $\Psi$ . By monotonicity we can choose  $p \in \Delta$ . Again, the conclusions in the theorem follow from the separating property of p.

It should be noted that the right hand side of the inequalities in statements (i) and (ii) only depend on the dimension of the commodity space and the maximum size of agents' endowments. Define a measure  $\rho$  for how well a price system p decentralizes an allocation  $x:A\to\mathbb{R}^\ell$  by

$$\rho(p,x) = \frac{1}{|A|} \left( \sum_{a \in A} |p \cdot (x(a) - e(a))| + \sum_{a \in A} |\inf\{p \cdot (y - e(a))| \mid y \succ_a x(a)\} \right).$$

Anderson's Theorem then implies, that for any allocation x in the Core( $\mathcal{E}$ ), there exists a price system  $p \in \Delta$  such that  $\rho(x, p) \le \frac{1}{|A|} 4\ell \max\{||e(a)|| | a \in A\}$ . That is, we can find a price system such that, on average, the bundles x(a),  $a \in A$  are demand-like.

In Ellickson et al. (1999) it is shown that Anderson's Core decentralization result extends to Club economies. In Club economies the proof is, however, more complicated. Indeed, since the consumers who have  $z(a) \in \text{conv } \psi(a) \setminus \psi(a) \cup \{0\}$  also consume club memberships, one cannot just dismiss these consumers when forming a coalition B that can improve upon x.

Anderson and Zame (1997) extend Anderson's approximate decentralization theorem to the case where the commodity space is the set of integrable functions on a finite measure space. However, they also give several examples of the failure of Core convergence. Hence, when the commodity space is infinitely dimensional, the Core convergence also becomes more subtle.

# 5.2. The Bargaining Set

Since we have equivalence between the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set, the Geanakoplos  $\delta$ -Bargaining Set, and the set of Walrasian allocations in an atomless economy, it is natural to expect that approximate decentralization by prices can be obtained for large finite economies.

In a recent paper, however, Anderson, Trockel, and Zhou (1997) show that this is not the case for the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set. They give an example of a replica sequence of economies  $\mathcal{E}^n$  for which there is a unique Walrasian equilibrium for all n. However, the measure of the set of individual rational, Pareto efficient, and equal treatment allocations, which are not in the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set, goes to zero as the economy is replicated. Hence the example shows very forcefully the non-convergence of the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set.

In the example, all agents have the same Cobb-Douglas utility function and the economy  $\mathcal{E}^1$ , which is replicated is regular. Indeed the basic economy  $\mathcal{E}^1$  is the

following: There are two commodities and two agents,  $A = \{1, 2\}$ . Both agents have the utility function  $u : \mathbb{R}^2_+ \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $u(x, y) = \sqrt{xy}$ . The initial endowments are respectively  $e_1 = (3, 1)$  and  $e_2 = (1, 3)$ . In the economy  $\mathcal{E}^1$  there is a unique Walrasian allocation x(1) = x(2) = (2, 2).

Let  $\mathcal{E}^n$  be the *n*-fold replica of the economy  $\mathcal{E}^1$  and define for each  $\xi \in [\sqrt{3}, 4-\sqrt{3}]$  the attainable allocation  $x_{\xi}^n$  in  $\mathcal{E}^n$  in which all consumers of type 1 get  $(\xi, \xi)$  and all consumers of type 2 get  $(4-\xi, 4-\xi)$ . The allocations  $x_{\xi}^n$  are individually rational, Pareto efficient, and have equal treatment. Let  $\lambda$  denote the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  and let  $\mathcal{B}^n$  denote the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set of  $\mathcal{E}^n$ .

# Theorem 8 (Anderson, Trockel, and Zhou)

For the replica sequence corresponding to  $\mathcal{E}^{11}$  described above the following hold:

[(i)]For all 
$$\xi \in [\sqrt{3}, 4-\sqrt{3}]$$
:  
 $|\{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \mid x_{\xi}^n \in \mathcal{B}^n\}| = \infty$  There is a constant  $C$  such that for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ :  
 $\lambda(\{\xi \in [\sqrt{3}, 4-\sqrt{3}]) \mid x_{\xi}^n \notin \mathcal{B}^n\}) \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{n}}$ 

Thus, in the example, the set of individually rational, Pareto efficient equaltreatment allocations which are in the Mas-Colell Bargaining set converges in the Hausdorff distance to the set of all individually rational, Pareto efficient equaltreatment allocations. Nevertheless there is a unique Walrasian allocation.

The non-convergence in the example is driven by an integer problem. Hence, the authors leave open the possibility that sequences of non-replica economies might have better behaved Mas-Colell Bargaining Sets. Clearly, replica economies have the very special property that the agents' characteristics consist of a finite number of points and this set does not change along the sequence.

In Anderson (1998) it is shown that the Geanakoplos &-Bargaining Set, and also the Aumann and Maschler bargaining Set, have qualitatively better convergence properties than the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set. Thus Anderson's result shows that it makes a fundamental difference for the convergence of Bargaining sets whether, as in the Aumann and Maschler and the Geanakoplos &-Bargaining sets, one requires that there is a group of leaders or not. Here we just state one of the convergence results, namely one of Anderson's convergence results for the Geanakoplos &-Bargaining Set. For any  $\delta > 0$ , let  $\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(\mathcal{E})$  denote the Geanakoplos &-Bargaining set of the economy  $\mathcal{E}$ .

### Theorem 9 (Anderson)

Consider a sequence of finite economies  $\mathcal{E}^n$ , where  $\mathcal{E}^n:A^n o\mathcal{P}_{mo}^* imes\mathbb{R}_+^\ell$  and

 $a \mapsto (\succ_a^n, e^i)$ 

 $[(i)]|A^n| \rightarrow$ 

 $K \subset \mathcal{P}_{mo}^* s$ 

 $(\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*)$  is en Then there every sequence

△ such tha

Thus, And towards 0  $\delta^n$ -Bargai course doe allocations

# 6. Strateg

We now a economy, non-cooperative strategy progression of strategic outcome for  $(s_a)_{a \in A} \in$ 

It is well is construct a Walrasian constructe player is the price at the original to the original to the construct and the original to the construct and the construction and the c

 $f_a(s_{-a}, s_a')$ 

have the pectively

ation x(1)

$$4 - \sqrt{3}$$
]

5) and all

rational,

ire on  $\mathbb R$ 

old:

treatment Hausdorff treatment

ence, the ight have the very oints and

also the properties makes a as in the at there is mely one any  $\delta > 0$ ,

 $\mathbb{R}^\ell_+$  and

266

$$a \mapsto (\succ_a^n, e^n(a))$$
, that satisfies:

$$[(i)]|A^n| \to \infty \frac{|S^n|}{|A^n|} \to 0 \Rightarrow \frac{1}{|A^n|} \sum_{a \in S^n} e^n(a) \to 0$$
, and for all  $\kappa$  there exists a compact set  $K \subset \mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$  such that

$$\frac{|\left\{a\in A^n\mid \succ_a\in K\right\}|}{A^n}>1-\kappa\,.$$

 $(\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*)$  is endowed with the topology of closed convergence. (See Hildenbrand 1974)) Then there exists a sequence  $\delta^n \to 0$  such that for every sequence  $\hat{\delta}^n$  with  $\hat{\delta}^n \geq \delta^n$  and every sequence  $(x^n)_n$  with  $x^n \in \mathcal{B}_{\hat{\delta}^n}(\mathcal{E}^n)$ , there exists a sequence of prices  $(p^n)_n$  with  $p^n \in \Delta$  such that  $\rho(p^n, x^n) \to 0$ .

Thus, Anderson has shown that if the sequence  $(\hat{\delta}^n)_n$  does not converge too quickly towards 0 then, when the economy is sufficiently large, elements in the Geanakoplos  $\hat{\delta}^n$ -Bargaining Set can approximately be decentralized with prices. Again, this of course does not imply that the Geanakoplos  $\hat{\delta}^n$ -Bargaining Set and the set of Walrasian allocations are close to each other for large finite economies.

# 6. Strategic Behavior and Walrasian Equilibria

We now ask whether one can also characterize the set of Walrasian equilibria of an economy, as the set of Nash equilibria in a suitably defined non-cooperative game or non-cooperative generalized game. A non-cooperative generalized game is a non-cooperative game in which the feasible strategies of a player depend on the players' strategy profile. For each player,  $a \in A$  there is a strategy set  $S_a$  and a constraint correspondence  $\beta_a: \prod_{a\in A} S_a \Rightarrow S_a$ , which maps a strategy profile  $s = (s_a)_{a\in A}$  into the set of strategies  $\beta_a(s) \subset S_a$ , that is feasible for a given the profile s. Moreover, there is an outcome function  $f: \prod_{a\in A} S_a \to \prod_{a\in A} \mathbb{R}^\ell$ . A Nash equilibrium is a strategy profile  $s = (s_a)_{a\in A} \in \prod_{a\in A} \beta_a(s)$  such that there does not exist for any player  $s'_a \in \beta_a(s)$  with  $f_a(s_{-a}, s'_a) \succ_a f_a(s)$ . (We let  $s_{-a}$  denote the profile of strategies for all players  $b \neq a$ .)

It is well known from Arrow and Debreu (1954) that, for a finite economy  $\mathcal E$ , one can construct a generalized game such that the Nash equilibria in the game equals the set of Walrasian equilibria of  $\mathcal E$ . The generalized game corresponding to the economy  $\mathcal E$  is constructed by adding a player- the price maker. The strategy set of this additional player is the positive price simplex  $\Delta$  and the additional player's preference relation on the price simplex is such that the player maximizes the value of the excess demand of the original consumers.

However, still using generalized games, one can also obtain the set of Walrasian Equilibria as the set of Nash outcomes without adding a player. For simplicity we assume that the players' consumption sets have been extended to  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Assume that each agent chooses a Walrasian Market that is a normalized price system, and also a net trade in each of the other agents' markets. Hence, the strategy set of each agent is  $S_a = \Delta \times \prod_{b \in A} \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Given the strategy profile $(p_a, (z_{ab})_{b \in A})_{a \in A} \in \prod_{a \in A} S_a$ , the value of agent a's constraint correspondence is given by

$$\beta_a((p_a,(z_{ab})_{b\in A}) = \Delta \times \{(z_{ab})_{b\in A} \mid p_b \cdot z_{ab} \le 0 \text{ for all } b \in A\}.$$

The outcome function  $f: \prod_{a \in A} S^a \to \prod_{a \in A} \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  is defined as follows: Let  $(p, z) = (p_a, (z_{ab})_{b \in A})_{a \in A}$  be a strategy profile and consider  $a \in A$ , then

$$f_a(p,z) = \sum_{b \in A} z_{ab} - \sum_{b \in A} z_{ba} + e(a).$$

Hence, each agent accepts all net trades which the other agents choose in his market and gets all the net trades he himself has chosen. Clearly, for all  $(p, z) \in \prod_{a \in A} S^a$ ,  $f(p, z) \in X(\mathcal{E})$ .

Assume  $|A| \ge 3$ . It is easy to see that any Nash equilibrium of the generalized game is a Walrasian equilibrium. Indeed if  $(p_a, (z_{ab})_{b \in A})_{a \in A}$  is a Nash equilibrium, then as  $|A| \ge 3$ , the absence of arbitrage possibilities implies that  $p_a = p_b = p$  for all  $a, b \in A$ . Moreover as all agents can obtain their Walrasian demands at p, we have that the outcome corresponding to the Nash equilibrium is a Walrasian allocation.

One may, however, ask if one can define a non-generalized non-cooperative game such that the set of Nash equilibria in the game equals the set of Walrasian equilibria in the economy. One such result is Schmeidler (1980). Consider a finite economy  $\mathcal{E}: A \to \mathbb{R}^\ell_+ \times \mathcal{P}^*_{mo}$ . Define the strategy set  $S_a$  for agent a as

$$S_a = \{(p_a, z_a) \in \Delta \times \mathbb{R}^\ell \mid p_a > 0, \text{ and } p_a \cdot z_a = 0\}.$$

Let the outcome function  $f: \prod_{a \in A} S^a \to \prod_{a \in A} \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be defined in the following way: Let  $(p, z) = (p_a, z_a)_{a \in A}$  be a strategy profile and consider an agent  $a \in A$ . Let  $T_a = \{b \in A \mid p_b = p_a\}$  and let

$$f_a(p,z) = \left(z_a - \frac{1}{|T_a|} \sum_{b \in T_a} z_b\right) + e(a).$$

Hence, all agents who have chosen the same price system are grouped and they obtain their chosen net trade adjusted by the average net trade in the group. Clearly, the outcome function f satisfies  $\sum_{a \in A} f_a(p, z) = \sum_{a \in A} e(a)$  for all strategy profiles  $(p, z) = (p_a, p_a)$ 

 $z_a)_{a\in A}$ .

Schmeidle

Theorem

Let E be

 $\prod_{a \in A} S_a i$   $(p_a, z_a)_{a \in A}$ A and  $(p, z_a)$ 

The proof  $z_a)_{a\in A}$  be any of the system is than two where all

# 7. Conclu

In this cha exchange obtained i

We have description literature models the description characterinumber of (1974) gird of agents have not a

Furthermo However, Indeed, er production on the pro Hildenbra

by using r

We briefly strategic b

Walrasian plicity we that each a net trade t is  $S_a = \Delta$  f agent a's

 $(p_a, z) = (p_a, z)$ 

 $\max_{a}, f(p, z) \in$ 

game is a as  $|A| \ge 3$ , Moreover e outcome

game such bria in the  $\mathcal{E}: A \rightarrow$ 

g way: Let  $\{b \in A \mid p_b\}$ 

hey obtain learly, the  $(p, z) = (p_a, z)$   $z_a)_{a\in A}$ .

Schmeidler (1980) shows the following result:

Theorem 10 (Schmeidler)

Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a finite economy in which the consumers have smooth preferences in  $\mathcal{P}_{mo}^*$ .

[(i)] Assume that (p, x) is a Walrasian equilibrium for  $\mathcal{E}$ . Then  $(p, x(a) - e(a))_{a \in A} \in \prod_{a \in A} S_a$  is a Nash equilibrium of the game described above. Assume  $|A| \geq 3$  and that  $(p_a, z_a)_{a \in A}$  is a Nash equilibrium of the game above. Then  $p_a = p_b = p$  for all agents  $a, b \in A$  and  $(p, (z_a + e(a))_{a \in A})$  is a Walrasian Equilibrium for  $\mathcal{E}$ .

The proof of assertion (ii) in the theorem is shown with the following steps: Let  $(p_a, z_a)_{a \in A}$  be a Nash equilibrium. First, any agent a can obtain their Walrasian demand at any of the price systems  $p_b$  which are suggested by the other agents. Second, if a price system is chosen by at least two agents all agents choose it. Third, as there are more than two consumers and preferences are smooth, there cannot be a Nash equilibrium where all of the agents have chosen different price systems.

#### 7. Conclusion

In this chapter we have reviewed some of the fundamental equivalence results for pure exchange economies. Clearly, it has not been possible to mention all the different results obtained in the literature.

We have defined an economy by using a measure space of agents and we have based the description of the economy on the individual agents' characteristics. However, in the literature there are several other ways of describing the basic economy. Vind (1964) models the basic exchange economy by a measurable space; however he bases the description of the economy on the characteristics of the coalitions, instead of the characteristics of the individual agents. There are also models with an uncountable number of agents that don't impose a measure space structure on the agents. Keiding (1974) gives Core equivalence results for economies with an abstract infinite index set of agents only allowing finite coalitions to improve upon allocations. Furthermore, we have not mentioned the large literature in which Core equivalence results are obtained by using non-standard analysis; see for example Brown and Robinson (1975).

Furthermore, in this chapter we have only considered pure exchange economies. However, the Core equivalence has been extended to economies with production. Indeed, endowing each coalition with a production set allows one to define the Core of a production economy, and again in atomless economies and with additivity assumptions on the production correspondence, Core equivalence has been obtained, see for example Hildenbrand (1974).

We briefly mentioned some results in which the Walrasian allocations are obtained from strategic behavior in non-cooperative games. In these examples the strategy space of the

Theorem:

Strongly I

Walrasiai

Equilibriu

Trades:

consumers are huge and the equivalence holds for a given finite economy. However, one might also consider sequences of economies with a growing number of agents. For each of the economies one can define a non-cooperative game and the Nash equilibria in this game. One might then investigate whether there is a connection between the set of Nash equilibria and the set of Walrasian allocations when the economy is sufficiently large. There are several papers along these lines. The paper by Gabszewicz and Vial (1972) is one of the first containing a general convergence result.

# Acknowledgments

The author is grateful to Joachim Rosenmüller and Walter Trockel for the opportunity to contribute to the EOLSS.

### Glossary

A Value It is assumed that agents' preferences are represented by utility functions. A Value allocation is an attainable allocation, where

functions. A Value allocation is an attainable allocation, where each agent gets a utility corresponding to his expected marginal contribution to the welfare of the groups in which he is member.

**Atom:** In a measure space  $(A, A, \lambda)$  a set  $S \in A$  is an atom if there does

not exist  $T \subset S$ ,  $T \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $\lambda(T) > 0$  and  $\lambda(S \setminus T) > 0$ .

**Atomless** An economy in which the set of agents is described by an atomless positive measure space.

Paragining Sate The set of attained to the se

Bargaining Set: The set of attainable allocations in an economy, which cannot be improved upon with a justified objection

improved upon with a justified objection.

Club Economy: An economy where agents have the possibility to form groups

and where membership in groups influence agents' preferences

for consumption of private goods.

Core: The set of attainable allocations for an economy, which cannot be

improved upon.

Counter-objection: A group of agents and an allocation for the group, which upsets

an objection.

Generalized A non-cooperative game in which the set of feasible strategies for a player is allowed to vary with the players' strategy profile.

Game: a player is allowed to vary with the players' strategy profile.

Improve Upon: A coalition can improve upon an allocation if the members, by

redistributing their initial endowments, can get consumption

bundles they prefer.

Justified An objection from a coalition which cannot be met with a counter-objection.

Lyapunov's States that the range of an atomless, non-negative, and finite

**Theorem:** vector valued measure is convex and compact.

Nash Equilibrium: Solution concept for non-cooperative games. A strategy profile is

a Nash equilibrium if all players use strategies that maximize

their payoffs given the strategies of the other players.

Pure Exchange A set of agents together with a description of their consumption

**Economy:** sets, initial endowments, and preference relations. **Shapley-** An approximate version of Lyapunov's Theorem.

Folkman's

©Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS)

©Encyclopedia

270

Anderson R very elegant Anderson R

Bibliograph

Economic A [Contains an Anderson, F

Economic T the Geanako See Section Anderson R

Sets. *Econo*Bargaining S
Section 5.2]

Anderson R Econometric See Section

Arrow K. an **22**, 265-290 They conver

Aumann R. continuum e

Aumann R. [Introduces Section 4.3]

Aumann R. Theory, (ed: Press. [Intro

Aumann R. Princeton U See Section

Bewley T. convergence Section 5.1]

Bewley T. (Commodities extension or essential box

Brown, D. a the Core equ

Debreu, G.

However, agents. For quilibria in the set of sufficiently z and Vial

pportunity

I by utility ion, where d marginal member.

bed by an

> 0.

cannot be

rm groups preferences

cannot be

nich upsets

rategies for ofile.

embers, by onsumption

net with a

and finite

y profile is maximize

nsumption

Theorem:

Strongly Fair Net Trades:

An allocation has strongly fair net trades if no agent prefers a combination of the net trades revealed by x with non-negative

integer weights.

Walrasian Equilibrium:

A pair consisting of a price system and an allocation. The allocation assigns to each agent an optimal bundle given the price

system. Moreover all markets clear.

#### **Bibliography**

Anderson R. (1978). An elementary Core Equivalence Theorem. *Econometrica* **46**, 1483-1487. [Shows a very elegant and elementary Core decentralization result. See Section 5.1]

Anderson R. (1992). The Core in Perfectly Competitive Economies. *Handbook of Game Theory with Economic Applications*, Vol. 1 (eds. R. Aumann and S. Hart), 413-458. Amsterdam: North-Holland. [Contains an extensive survey of the Core convergence results. See Section 5.1]

Anderson, R. (1998). Convergence of the Aumann-Davis-Maschler and Geanakoplos Bargaining Sets. *Economic Theory* 11, 1-37. [Shows that elements in the Aumann-Davis-Maschler Bargaining Set and in the Geanakoplos Bargaining Set can be approximately decentralized by prices in a large finite economy. See Section 5.2]

Anderson R., Trockel W., and Zhou L. (1997). Nonconvergence of the Mas-Colell and Zhou Bargaining Sets. *Econometrica* **65**, 1227-1239. [Gives an example that shows that elements in the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set cannot necessarily be approximately decentralized by prices in a large finite economy. See Section 5.2]

Anderson R. and Zame W. (1997). Edgeworth Conjecture with Infinitely Many Commodities: L1. *Econometrica* **65**, 225-273. [Shows approximately Core Decentralization with the commodity space L1. See Section 5.2]

Arrow K. and Debreu G. (1954). Existence of an Equilibrium for a Competitive Economy. *Econometrica* 22, 265-290. [Gives the first general existence theorem for a Walrasian equilibrium in a finite economy. They convert the economy into a social system by adding an agent who sets prices. See Section 6]

Aumann R. (1964). Markets with a Continuum of Traders. *Econometrica* 32, 39-50. [Introduces a continuum economy and proves the first Core equivalence theorem. See Section 4.1]

Aumann R. (1975). Values of Markets with a Continuum of Traders, *Econometrica* 43, 611-644. [Introduces the set of Value allocations in an atomless economy and shows Value equivalence. See Section 4.3]

Aumann R. and M. Maschler (1964). *The Bargaining Set for Cooperative Games. In Advances in Game Theory*, (eds. M. Dresher, L. Shapley, and A. Tucker), 443-476. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press. [Introduces the Bargaining Set of a cooperative game. See Section 5.2]

Aumann R.J. and Shapley L.S. (1968, 1974). *Values of Non-Atomic Games*, 333 pp. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press. [In this book Aumann and Shapley develop a theory for Non-Atomic Games. See Section 4.3]

Bewley T. (1973). Edgeworth's Conjecture. Econometrica, 41, 425-454. [Obtains strong Core convergence results by imposing strong conditions on the support of the agents' characteristics. See Section 5.1]

Bewley T. (1973). The equality of the Core and the Set of Equilibria in Economies with Infinitely Many Commodities and a Continuum of Agents. *International Economic Review* 14, 383-393. [Gives an extension of Aumann's Core Equivalence Theorem to the case where the commodity space is the set of essential bounded measurable functions on a measure space (L8). See Section 4.1]

Brown, D. and Robinson A. (1975). Nonstandard Exchange Economies. *Econometrica* **43**, 41-55. [Proves the Core equivalence theorem for a nonstandard exchange economy. See Section 7]

Debreu, G. (1959). Theory of Value: An Axiomatic Analysis of Economic Equilibrium, 114 pp. New York:

John Wiley and Sons, Inc. [The classical textbook on general equilibrium theory. See Section 1]

Debreu, G. (1975). The Rate of Convergence of the Core of an Economy. *Journal of Mathematical Economics* 2, 1-7. [Gives the rate of convergence for a sequence of replica economies. See Section 5.1]

Debreu, G. and Scarf H. (1963). A Limit Theorem on the Core of an Economy. *International Economic Review* **4**, 236-246. [States the first general Core convergence result. See Section 5.1]

Dierker, E. (1975). Gains and Losses at Core Allocations. *Journal of Mathematical Economics* 2, 119-128. [Gives a price decentralization theorem for Core allocations. See Section 5.1]

Dubey P. and Neyman A. (1997). An Equivalence Principle for Perfectly Competitive Economies. *Journal of Economic Theory* 75, 314-344. [Presents an axiomatic approach to the equivalence principle. See section 4.4]

Edgeworth, F.Y. (1881). Mathematical Psychics-An Essay On The Application of Mathematics to The Moral Sciences, 150 pp. London: Kegan Paul. [Shows that competition leads to Walrasian allocations. See Section 5.1]

Ellickson, B., Grodal B., Scotchmer S., and Zame W. (1999). Clubs and the Market. *Econometrica* 67, 1185-1217. [Give a general Core equivalence result for club economies. See Section 4.1]

Ellickson B., Grodal B., Scotchmer S., and Zame W. (1999). Clubs and the Market: Large Finite Economies. Discussion Paper 99-05, University of Copenhagen. Forthcoming Journal of Economic Theory. [Extends Anderson (1978) to club economies. See Section 5.1]

Gabszewicz J. and Mertens J.-F. (1971). An Equivalence Theorem for the Core of an Economy whose Atoms Are Not "Too" Big. *Econometrica* **39**, 713-721. [Gives a Core equivalence theorem for economies with atoms using a condition on the relative size of the atoms. See Section 4.1]

Gabszewicz J. and Vial J.P. (1972). Oligopoly "`a la Cournot" in a General Equilibrium Analysis. *Journal of Economic Theory* 4, 381-400. [Proves, under relative strong assumptions, that the Nash equilibria of economies where firms behave strategically converge to the Walrasian equilibria when the number of firms converges to +8. See Section 7]

Geanakoplos J. (1978). The Bargaining Set and Nonstandard Analysis. Chapter 3 of Ph.D. Dissertation. Department of Economics, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA. [Introduces the Geanakoplos Bargaining Set. See Section 4.2 and Section 5.2]

Grodal B. (1972). A Second Remark on the Core of an Atomless Economy. *Econometrica* 40, 581-583. [Shows that coalitions that can improve can be restricted to consist of small groups of similar agents. See Section 4.1]

Grodal, B. (1975). The Rate of Convergence of the Core for a Purely Competitive Sequence of Economies. *Journal of Mathematical Economics* **2**, 171-186. [Gives the rate of convergence for a general sequence of economies. See Section 5.1]

Grodal B. (1988). Bargaining Sets and Walrasian Allocations for Atomless Economies with Incomplete Preferences. Discussion Paper 88-15, University of Copenhagen. [Contains equivalence results for the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set when consumers' have non-complete preferences. See Section 4.2]

Hildenbrand W. (1974). Core and Equilibria of a Large Economy, 251 pp. Princeton: Princeton University Press. [A classical textbook on Core convergence. See Section 5.1 and 7]

Kannai Y. (1966). Values of Games with a Continuum of Players. *Israel Journal of Mathematics* **4**, 54-58. [Defines the asymptotic Value of a game with a continuum of players. See Section 4.3]

Keiding H. (1974). Cores and Equilibria in an Infinite Economy. In Computing Equilibria: How and Why. (eds. J. ZLo's and M. ZLo's), 65-75. Amsterdam: North- Holland. [Studies Core equivalence in economies with an uncountable number of agents without imposing a measure space structure. Only finite coalitions are allowed to improve upon an allocation. See Section 7]

Mas-Colell A. (1989). An Equivalence Theorem for a Bargaining Set. *Journal of Mathematical Economics* 18, 129-139. [Defines the Mas-Colell Bargaining Set for an atomless economy and proves an equivalence result. See Section 4.2 and Section 5.2]

McLennan A. and Sonnenschein H. (1991). Sequential Bargaining as a Non-cooperative Foundation for

Walrasian Ed Walrasian ou

Ostroy J. an *Econometrica* when the con

Shapley L. (1) and A. Tucke game. See s International the size of the

Schmeidler I Preferences. with non-con

Schmeidler I [Shows that arbitrarily sm

Schmeidler I [Defines a rallocations. S

Schmeidler 1 Walrasian all

Shitovitz B. [Investigates consumers ha

Starr R. (196 [Introduces the

Vind K. (19 *Economic Re* and proves a Lyapunov's T

Vind K. (19 [Shows that arbitrarily lar

Vind K. (19 *Economic Th* market and p

Vind K. (19 argued that E

# Biographica

Birgit Grod
Mathematics
of Copenhag
equilibrium t
competition,
economics w
of Economic
editor of Economic
editor of Economic
executive Covisiting resea

1]

Mathematical ction 5.1]

al Economic

mics **2**, 119-

Economies. ce principle.

natics to The allocations.

ometrica **67**,

*Large Finite* of Economic

nomy whose or economies

ysis. *Journal* equilibria of e number of

Dissertation.
s Bargaining

40, 581-583. ar agents. See

Sequence of for a general

h Incomplete esults for the

n: Princeton

matics **4**, 54-

ia: How and quivalence in e. Only finite

Mathematical and proves an

oundation for

Walrasian Equilibria. *Econometrica* **59**, 1395-1424. [Defines a non-cooperative market game that leads to Walrasian outcomes. See Section 3.2]

Ostroy J. and Zame W. (1994). Nonatomic Economies and the Boundaries of Perfect Competition. *Econometrica* **62**, 593-633. [Shows that atomless economies do not necessarily give Core equivalence when the commodity spaces are infinitely dimensional. See Section 4.1]

Shapley L. (1953). A Value for n-Person Games. *Contributions to the Theory of Games II* (eds. H. Kuhn and A. Tucker), 303-307. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press. [Defines the Shapley Value of a TU game. See section 4.3] Schjødt, U. and B. Sloth (1994). Bargaining Sets with Small Coalitions. International Journal of Game Theory 23, 49-55. [Studies Bargaining Sets when there are restrictions on the size of the coalitions that can object and counter object. See Section 4.2]

Schmeidler D. (1969). Competitive Equilibria in Markets with a Continuum of Trades and Incomplete Preferences. *Econometrica* 37, 578-585. [Proves a Core equivalence theorem for atomless economies with non-complete preferences. See section 4.1]

Schmeidler D. (1972). A Remark on the Core of an Atomless Economy. *Econometrica* **40**, 579-580. [Shows that if an attainable allocation can be improved upon, then it can be improved upon with an arbitrarily small coalition. See Section 4.1]

Schmeidler D. (1980). Walrasian Analysis Via Strategic Outcome Functions. *Econometrica* **48**, 1585-93. [Defines a non-cooperative game in which the set of Nash equilibria equals the set of Walrasian allocations. See section 6]

Schmeidler D. and Vind K. (1972). Fair Net Trades. *Econometrica* 40, 637-42. [Characterize the Walrasian allocations as attainable allocations having strongly fair net trades. See Section 3.2]

Shitovitz B. (1973). Oligopoly in Markets with a Continuum of Traders. *Econometrica* 41, 467-501. [Investigates the connection between the Core and the Walrasian equilibria when the measure space of consumers has atoms. See Section 4.2]

Starr R. (1969). Quasi-Equilibria in Markets with Non-Convex Preferences. *Econometrica* 37, 25-38. [Introduces the Shapley-Folkman Theorem. See Section 2.2]

Vind K. (1964). Edgeworth-Allocations in an Exchange Economy with Many Trades. *International Economic Review* 5, 165-177. [Introduces an atomless economy in which coalitions are the basic actors and proves a Core equivalence theorem without assuming complete preferences. Moreover, introduces Lyapunov's Theorem into economics. See Section 2.1 and 7]

Vind K. (1972). A Third Remark on the Core of an Atomless Economy. *Econometrica* **40**, 585-586. [Shows that if an attainable allocation can be improved upon, then it can be improved upon with an arbitrarily large coalition. See Section 4.1]

Vind K. (1978). Equilibrium with Respect to a Simple Market. *Equilibrium and Disequilibrium in Economic Theory* (ed. G. Schwodiauer), 3-6. Dordrecht: D. Reidel Publishing Co. [Defines a simple market and proves an equivalence result. See Section 3.2]

Vind K. (1995). Perfect Competition or the Core. *European Economic Review* **39**, 1733-1745. [It is argued that Edgeworth did not define the Core but the set of exchange equilibria. See Section 5.1]

#### **Biographical Sketch**

Birgit Grodal is Professor of Economics at University of Copenhagen. She received Master's in Mathematics 1968 and gold medal for a dissertation in mathematical economics 1970 from the University of Copenhagen. She has done extensive research within economic theory and especially in general equilibrium theory. In particular she has contributed to the theory of the core, economies with imperfect competition, and economies with incomplete markets. Moreover, she has contributed to the theory of economies with clubs. She has a large number of publications, including papers in Econometrica, Review of Economic Studies, Journal of mathematical Economics, and Economic Theory. She has been associated editor of Econometrica and Economic Theory, and has been on the editorial board of Journal of Mathematical economics. She is fellow in the Econometric Society, and has been on the Council and the Executive Committee of the Econometric Society. She is member of Academia Europeae. She has been visiting researcher at several American and European Universities.